Redox Biology 2 (2014) 430-435



Redox Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/redox



Review Article

Redox regulation of protein damage in plasma



Helen R. Griffiths*, Irundika H.K. Dias, Rachel S. Willetts, Andrew Devitt

Life & Health Sciences and Aston Research Centre for Healthy Ageing, Aston University, Aston Triangle, Birmingham B4 7ET, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 December 2013 Accepted 11 January 2014 Available online 20 January 2014

Keywords: Oxidation Nitration Glycosylation Ageing Thioredoxin Peroxiredoxin

ABSTRACT

The presence and concentrations of modified proteins circulating in plasma depend on rates of protein synthesis, modification and clearance. In early studies, the proteins most frequently analysed for damage were those which were more abundant in plasma (e.g. albumin and immunoglobulins) which exist at up to 10 orders of magnitude higher concentrations than other plasma proteins e.g. cytokines. However, advances in analytical techniques using mass spectrometry and immuno-affinity purification methods, have facilitated analysis of less abundant, modified proteins and the nature of modifications at specific sites is now being characterised. The damaging reactive species that cause protein modifications in plasma principally arise from reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by NADPH oxidases (NOX), nitric oxide synthases (NOS) and oxygenase activities; reactive nitrogen species (RNS) from myeloperoxidase (MPO) and NOS activities; and hypochlorous acid from MPO. Secondary damage to proteins may be caused by oxidized lipids and glucose autooxidation.

In this review, we focus on redox regulatory control of those enzymes and processes which control protein maturation during synthesis, produce reactive species, repair and remove damaged plasma proteins. We have highlighted the potential for alterations in the extracellular redox compartment to regulate intracellular redox state and, conversely, for intracellular oxidative stress to alter the cellular secretome and composition of extracellular vesicles. Through secreted, redox-active regulatory molecules, changes in redox state may be transmitted to distant sites.

© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-SA license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/).

Contents

Introduction	431
Redox regulation in protein synthesis	431
Redox regulation of protein damage inducers	432
Redox control of NAPH oxidase isoforms (NOX)	432
Redox control of nitric oxide synthases (NOS).	432
Regulation of lipoxygenase, xanthine oxidase and MPO	433
Redox regulation of repair and receptor-mediated clearance for damaged proteins in plasma	433
Receptor mediated clearance	433
Damaged protein repair	433
Conclusion	434
Acknowledgements	434
References	434

Abbreviations: BH4, tetrahydrobiopterin; CRP, C-reactive protein; COX, cyclo-oxygenase; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERO1, endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductin 1; EV, extracellular vesicles; FX1, factor XI; GPI, glycoprotein 1; GPX, glutathione peroxidase; GRX, glutaredoxin; GSH, glutathione; MIRNA, microRNA; MPO, myeloperoxidase; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; NOX, NADPH oxidase; O⁺₂, superoxide anion radical; ONOO-, peroxynitrite; PDI, protein disulphide isomerase; Prx, peroxiredoxin; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; ROS, reactive nitrogen species; Trx, thioredoxin; VWF, von Willebrand factor; XO, xanthine oxidase

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 121 204 3950.

E-mail address: h.r.griffiths@aston.ac.uk (H.R. Griffiths).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2014.01.010

2213-2317 © 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-SA license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/).



Introduction

Plasma proteins perform a range of important physiological functions such as maintaining homeostatic blood volume, transporting other molecules for delivery at distant sites, through to regulating endocrine systems and inflammatory responses. With half-lives ranging from minutes to a month (Table 1) and with biosynthetic and turnover rates decreasing during ageing, their potential to accumulate damage differs markedly by protein and over time [1,2]. Consequently, modifications to plasma proteins may exert a range of diverse effects according to the sites of damage and are reported to increase in frequency with age, acute and chronic diseases. Therefore, modified proteins have the potential to serve as important biomarkers and may in turn signpost aetiological mechanisms [3]. An improved understanding of factors that influence the steady state concentrations of damaged proteins is important for evaluating their sensitivity as biomarkers and also their potential as targets for therapeutic interventions that prevent or repair or modifications. The focus of this review is on the role of redox regulation of steady state protein damage in plasma.

In reviewing the redox regulation of protein damage in plasma, we will consider (1) errors introduced in biosynthesis e.g. during ER stress that affect glycosylation, folding and secretion: (2) redox control of myeloperoxidase (MPO), NAPH oxidase isoforms (NOX), nitric oxide synthases (NOS), xanthine oxidase (XO) which increase protein exposure to reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS, RNS) in the plasma and result in chlorination, nitration, nitrosylation, chlorination, methionine oxidation, disulphide formation, HNE-protein adducts: and (3) regulation of hepatic and macrophage receptors, extracellular reducing enzymes and proteins such as protein disulphide isomerase (PDI), thioredoxin1 (Trx1), peroxiredoxins (Prx) and oxidoreductases that affect steady state level of plasma protein damage.

Historically, the proteins analysed most frequently for damage were the more abundant plasma proteins (e.g. albumin and immunoglobulins) occurring at up to 10 orders of magnitude higher concentrations than other proteins found in plasma; more recently improved purification methods and higher sensitivity mass spectrometry techniques have enabled less abundant proteins to be examined [4].

Redox regulation in protein synthesis

There is little protein specificity for ROS and RNS, with reactions often proceeding at diffusion controlled rates, such that the proteins most likely to be damaged by ROS are those in closest proximity to their sites of production and at the highest concentrations.

During protein synthesis, secretory and membrane proteins co-translationally enter and are folded in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi. Oxidative disulphide bond formation and glycosylation facilitate correct protein folding prior to transport to the plasma

Tal	ole	1

Major plasma protein characteristics.

membrane for export; misfolded ER proteins are recognised and unfolded by ER resident reductases and chaperones before undergoing retrotranslocation to the cytosol [5].

Oxidative maturation is achieved by highly regulated enzymatic transfer of two electrons [6]. The first conserved ER-resident oxidase in the pathway to be identified that generates disulphide at the expense of reducing oxygen is oxidoreductin 1 (Ero1) which occurs in two discretely regulated and distributed forms, alpha and beta; however, in contrast to observations in yeast, double Ero1 knockout animals show little phenotype. Indeed, normal ER redox conditions can be established after a strong reductive challenge, although this occurs more slowly than in wild-type cells, suggesting a role for other oxidative enzymes in disulphide formation [7]. One candidate family is the protein disulphide isomerases (there are 20 reported family members in mammalian cells) that include PDI, glutathione peroxidase (GPx) 7, GPx8 and which interact with Ero1alpha [8]. Ero1alpha activity is inhibited by an intramolecular disulphide switch between the active-site Cys94 and Cys131 and is re-activated by available reduced PDI. In support of this regulatory mechanism, overexpression of the mutant Ero1alpha-Cys131Ala which does not have a disulphide switch, leads to ER overoxidation [9]. In one of the first studies to identify specific oxidised thiol sites on intracellular proteins, using methoxypolyethylene glycol 5000 maleimide, Herzog-Appenzeller et al. showed that PDI is found in two semioxidised forms suggesting that either domain in human PDI can catalyse substrate oxidation and reduction [10]. Both isoforms of Ero1 facilitate the propagation of disulphides via PDI to nascent proteins and hence are crucial for oxidative maturation [11] in a process that is modulated by the glutathione (GSH)-oxidised GSH (GSSG) redox pair [12]. Other redox regulated enzymes that have been implicated in control of protein folding include; (a) Prx4 which can use luminal hydrogen peroxide to oxidise PDI and thereby favour oxidative folding but limit oxidative stress: and (b) vitamin K epoxide reductase in cooperation with membrane-bound Trx-like redox partners [13]. The extent of redundancy in the pathways for oxidative protein folding supports the importance of effective redox control in the biosynthesis of secreted proteins.

There are very few examples of loss of redox control in the ER which impact on the secretome. An early study by Lodish used DTT to explore the effect of a strongly reducing environment on the secretion of different proteins and found that only secretion of those with disulphide bonds was reversibly inhibited by DTT [14]. In contrast, a recent study describes that in astrocytes overexpressing mutant SOD1, total protein secretion was decreased although increased mutant SOD1-containing exosome release was observed, possibly to prevent intracellular aggregate formation [15]. It remains to be determined how the conventional ER secretory pathway is affected by SOD1 mutant and whether this is due to excess ROS. The extent to which exosome and microparticle (extracellular vesicles; EV) formation can influence protein damage or transport modified proteins is unknown, however, a few intriguing reports suggest that EV can induce redox signalling at distant sites [16–18] and that their

J 1						
Plasma protein	Normal level	(%)	Function	Half-life		
Albumin	3.5–5 g/dl	60	Create oncotic pressure Carry other molecules	17d		
Immunoglobulins	1–1.5 g/dl	18	Acquired immune response	19–24 d in healthy subjects		
Fibrinogen	0.2-0.45 g/dl	4	Blood clotting	3.5–5.5 d		
α-globulins	0.15-0.35 g/dl	3	Anti-trypsin	62 h		
	0.03-0.2 g/dl	2	Haptoglobin	8 h		
β globulins	0.2-0.36 g/dl	4	Transferrin,	< 24 h		
	0.06 g/dl	1	High Density Lipoprotein			
	0.1 g/dl	2	Low density lipoproteins			
Hormones (e.g. norepinephrine)	0.6 NM		Promote stress response	2.5 min		

secretion may be influenced by redox state [19]. This promising field of research may reveal a novel mechanism of redox signaling.

Discrete plasma protein glycosylation patterns have been described during disease and ageing. These may arise from synthetic errors in B cells e.g. during rheumatoid arthritis and also from post-translational modifications by ROS [20–23]. Few studies describe the effects of glycoform modifications as they are both complicated to design and to analyse. Using a series of glycosidases to prune the glycoform, the effect of oligosaccharide structure has been described for IgG1, with the glycoform changing effector functions of the molecule in binding complement and Fc receptors [24]. In a different approach, the function of C-reactive protein (CRP) with different glycosylation patterns that was isolated from patients with infectious disease was examined; patient CRP caused greater erythrocyte fragility which the authors attributed to the glycosylation pattern and may explain in part the anaemia associated with tuberculosis and leishmaniasis [25].

Cullen et al. explored the effect of oxidised LDL-loaded macrophages on membrane protein glycosylation and described a decrease in alpha-1,3-fucosyltransferase enzyme activity and sialyl lewis expression which may reduce macrophage binding to the selectin receptor, modulating homing in atherosclerotic vessels [26]. Direct evidence for the involvement of ROS in regulating glycosylation has been provided in TNFalpha-activated leukocytes lacking the NOX component, gp91 phox, p47 phox or inhibited with tiron. After NOX inhibition, rather than an increase in core 2 beta-1, 6-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase activity induced by TNF, transferase activity was reduced by NOX inhibition and binding to endothelial cells was also inhibited [27]. This suggests a role for redox regulation of membrane protein glycoforms. From the aforementioned evidence, loss of the native protein glycoform can be elicited directly by oxidative damage or via redox regulation of oligosaccharide synthesis: irrespective of the cause, protein function is often affected by altering the glycoform.

Redox regulation of protein damage inducers

The molecular fingerprint of damage to major plasma proteins includes amino acids modified by chlorination, nitrosylation, oxidation, nitration, crosslinking (disulphide and Schiff base) formation, glycation, dialdehydic lipids such as malondialdehyde and 4-hydoxynonenal [28–35]. The mechanisms underlying these modifications have been considered extensively elsewhere and are not considered here [36]. The damaging reactive species principally arise from ROS produced by NOX, NOS and oxygenase activities; RNS from MPO and NOS activities; and hypochlorous acid from MPO. Instead, our focus is on redox regulatory control of those enzymes which produce reactive species.

Redox control of NAPH oxidase isoforms (NOX)

Probably the most important source of the ROS, superoxide anion radical (O_2^{-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , derive from NOX 1–5 and Duox1/2 [37]. ROS from these enzymes are produced at vastly different rates and concentrations to effect signalling and bacterial killing. The majority of NOX forms release O_2^{-} to the extracellular face and therefore have the potential to cause bystander damage to plasma proteins. The NOX family is widely distributed and by virtue of its potential to induce widespread damage, its activity is carefully regulated. PDI is a key regulatory enzyme of NOX. It controls angiotensin II-mediated ROS generation and Akt phosphorylation in vascular cells, being co-located with oxidase subunits probably playing a role in subunit assembly or trafficking [38]. Similarly in macrophages, close association between PDI and the p22phox NADPH oxidase subunit was shown by confocal co-localization and co-immunoprecipitation [39]. In neutrophils, the role of PDI in NOX assembly was also demonstrated, where oxidised PDI increases, and reduced PDI decreases membrane NADPH oxidase complex activity. Cytosolic PDI exhibited thiol-dependent association with p47(phox) but following activation did not accumulate in membranes. In contrast, oxidised PDI was detected in the membrane suggesting a role in NOX organisation according to its redox state [40]. Further investigation of PDI binding partners revealed functional associations with small GTPases Rac1 and RhoA and their regulator RhoGDI and suggested that PDI supports NOX1 activation in vascular smooth muscle cells [41]. In endothelial cells, many molecular and physical stimuli can activate NOX signalling which converge on a redox regulatory mechanism through Ras GTPases that contain a redox-sensitive cysteine (X) in the conserved NKXD motif and are susceptible to single electron reduction. Similarly, Rho GTPases that contain a redox-sensitive cysteine at the end of the conserved phosphorylbinding loop motif (GXXXXG[S/T]C) may be activated by single or two electron cysteine oxidation [42,43].

The assembly of NADPH oxidase subunits is also driven by lipid raft formation, membrane macrodomains enriched in sphingolipid and cholesterol [44,45]. We have shown that intracellular glutathione concentrations are lower in neutrophils from patients with chronic periodontitis and thiol-regulated acid sphingomyelinase activity is increased, driving raft formation and is associated with an increase in circulating plasma protein oxidation in periodontitis [45,46]. Intracellular GSH redox state and the ability to drive an effective adaptive response to regenerate GSH after its depletion via Nrf2 activation are important regulatory elements during NOX activation. GSH may be used as reducing equivalents by PDI to inactivate NOX, can exist at different redox states within a cell according to compartment and interestingly can be affected by extracellular redox state affording "outside-in" control of activation [47–49].

Redox control of nitric oxide synthases (NOS)

Nitric oxide (NO) is generated by three NOS isoforms at varying rates and concentrations according to its role in cell signalling or bacterial killing. It can diffuse through membranes for up to $6 \,\mu m$ from its site of production facilitating distant effects. NOS are highly regulated through a number of discrete mechanisms including transcriptional control (redox and NFkB for iNOS/ NOS2) calcium, calmodulin and tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) availability. NO can mediate direct and reversible nitrosylation of thiol moieties important for signalling and so is considered protective against the effects of ROS which may oxidise thiols to higher, irreversible oxidation states. On the other hand, when produced at higher concentrations and combined with $O_2^{\bullet-}$, NO produces the potent oxidant peroxynitrite, ONOO-. As described for NOX, the small GTPase Rac, also regulates constitutive NOS1 and 3 found in neurones and endothelial cells respectively. Cellular NO and O₂⁻ production increase or decrease in a coordinated fashion through Rac as a common control element [50].

NOS2 is located in peroxisomes and the cortical cytoskeleton is induced by ROS and NFkB during inflammation and tissue injury as part of the host defence and healing mechanisms. NOS2 induction results in NO release into the oxidative microenvironment, results in peroxynitrite formation and can contribute to tyrosine nitration in plasma proteins [51].

NOS3 was first reported in endothelial cells and is calcium/ calmodulin-dependent and normally produces NO for signalling. However, during oxidative stress, BH4 is depleted, and NADPH oxidation is uncoupled from NO generation, leading to production of O_2^- ; uncoupling is also driven by phosphorylation of Ser-1177 by Akt such that O_2^{--} generation is Ca²⁺-independent [52–54]. The adipokine, resistin, which is considered important in insulin resistance, diabetes and cardiovascular disease, can also inhibit NO production from NOS3 in endothelial cells and an increase in ROS albeit in this case from loss of NOS3 mRNA stability and mitochondrial ROS, respectively [52]. Disruption of NOS3 is likely to result in loss of effective NO signalling and increased plasma protein oxidation. In contrast, upregulation of NOS3 by Nrf2 and NF-kB activation by isoflavones may increase NO bioavailability offering a mechanism whereby dietary phytoestrogens may modulate the redox environment and protein damage [55].

Regulation of lipoxygenase, xanthine oxidase and MPO

Cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and 5-lipoxygenase, which synthesise the inflammatory mediators, prostaglandins and leukotrienes, from dietary or membrane-originated AA via phospholipase A2 activity also produce ROS as byproducts [52]. While the effects of COX-2 dependent biosynthesis of resolution phase lipid mediators are fine-tuned by micro RNAs (miRNA) [56], little is known of regulators of ROS production. While there is evidence to suggest that dietary modulation of miRNA expression may affect COX-2 activity, this work is still in its infancy.

Xanthine oxidase (XO) is a potentially important source of superoxide in the vasculature during hypoxia and depletion of ATP, when xanthine dehydrogenase activity is converted to oxidase activity following thiol oxidation and the enzyme degrades purines and produces superoxide.

MPO is found in azurophilic granules of neutrophils and activity is regulated only by availability of substrate hydrogen peroxide and compartmentalization. It can mediate chlorination and nitration of proteins at inflammatory sites [33,57]. Owing to the unique source and chemistry of MPO products, there have been several successful approaches to limit MPO-driven oxidative damage [58,59].

Redox regulation of repair and receptor-mediated clearance for damaged proteins in plasma

The presence of proteins that have been damaged by reactive species in the circulation is not only due to excess production of reactive species but also due to inadequate repair or removal of damaged molecules. Only a limited number of damages are repairable, including disulphide bonds, sulphenic and sulphinic acids, nitrosylation and methionine sulphoxides. There are limited examples of protein repair occurring in fluid phase, whereas several proteins are reduced on the cell surface by exported oxidoreductase enzymes such as PDI and cofactors including Ero1, Trx and Prx. No reports of extracellular methionine sulphoxide reductase were found.

Hepatic and phagocytic receptor-trafficked clearance mechanisms are the major routes for removal of damaged proteins and these are subsequently degraded intracellularly by the proteasome. Extracellular matrix proteins accumulate damage over their life-time and collagens are can become heavily glycated, undergoing extensive browning and elasticity loss, during diabetes.

Receptor mediated clearance

The liver serves a variety of functions including the synthesis and removal of many plasma proteins. Protein clearance is most likely mediated by Kupffer cells, specialised liver macrophages which carry receptors for asialoglycoproteins. Loss of sialic acid from glycoproteins may contribute to enhance antigenicity, loss of tolerance and development of "autoimmune" responses hence rapid removal is important [60,61]. Liver function declines with age and also after ethanol exposure due to impaired binding of asialoglycoproteins by their receptors [62]. When combined with genetic polymorphisms in HLA antigens, the risk for autoimmunity is increased in older adults and younger adults who experienced chronic hepatitis C as children [63].

Another class of receptors that mediate clearance of circulating damaged proteins in plasma are scavenger receptors expressed on Kupffer cells [64] and macrophages e.g. CD36 [65]. CD36 binds to oxidised and hypochlorite-modified apoproteins within HDL and LDL and may elicit a range of downstream signals according to co-receptor involvement. The nature of the epitopes recognised by CD36 are not well-defined but are more likely to be molecular patterns of hydrophobic amino acids caused by exposure of hydrophobic domains following damage. Once internalised, the damaged proteins will be degraded in lysosomes.

Damaged protein repair

The oxidoreductases and Trx1, can be exported through the leaderless secretory pathway, exerting a range of effects on T cells, B cells and fibroblasts from growth arrest to autocrine activation and can also be found associated with plasma membranes where it is probably anchored through palmitoylation [66]. We have shown that Trx1 trafficking to the membrane is decreased when intracellular GSH is depleted and hence the intracellular redox state may influence the extracellular environment [67]. Trx1 is an effective reductant of disulphide bonds in plasma and on the cell surface.

One notable example of oxidised protein repair in plasma is in the regulation of tissue factor (TF) activity by secreted Trx1 [68]. Enhanced tissue factor activity increases thrombus risk. This can be decreased through disulphide reduction by NADPH, Trx1 and thioredoxin reductase (TxR) and results in reversible association of Trx1 with TF in human serum and plasma samples so interfering with factor 7a binding to TF and inhibition of the coagulant cascade. However, others have debated the importance of redox control for activation of TF and suggest a role for PS exposure and suggest further study is necessary [69,70]. The activity of a related clotting factor is also increased by reduction; circulating Factor XI (FXI) exists as a dimer with disulphide bonds which can be reduced by TRx1 and PDI. The activation of reduced FXI by thrombin, FXIIa or FXIa was significantly increased compared to non-reduced FXI thereby promoting an effective clotting response [71].

In another example, this time in close association with T cell membranes, IL-4 activation and binding to receptor is achieved through membrane associated Trx and PDI with TxR serving as the electron donor [72]. Full length Trx1 on endothelial cells acts as an inhibitor of C5 convertase deposition, so preventing formation of complement component C5a and the membrane attack complex in a redox-dependent manner [73]. However, the truncated form of Trx1 was a potent activator of complement and highlights the importance of understanding the form of Trx1. Other disulphide bonds on leukocytes that are labile and can be reduced by Trx with PDI and thiol reductase, include mouse T cell CD132. When reduced, IL-2 -dependent signalling was inhibited but it is unknown whether this same effect is observed in human cells, where oxidation of cell surface proteins is associated with suppression of activity [74]. Related to Trx1, PDI and glutaredoxin (Grx1) activity is required for T cell entry of HIV1 after binding to surface CD4 through reduction of intramolecular disulphides in the envelope protein gp120. To date, Grx1 does not appear to be widely used as a reducing enzyme at the T cell surface so may be a druggable target to prevent HIV-1 entry [75].

In addition to their role in thrombosis, platelets are increasingly recognised as important players in inflammatory responses, secrete EVs and provide an important platform for oxidised protein repair. For example, the plasma protein beta(2)-glycoprotein I (GPI) circulates in an oxidised state and is susceptible to reduction at Cys288–Cys326 disulphide in domain V by Trx1 and

PDI on the platelet surface. Reduced beta(2) GPI shows increased binding to von Willebrand Factor (vWF) and in turn increased platelet adhesion to activated vWF [76].

Surface adhesion molecules, integrins, are important for cell to cell interactions and frequently undergo post-translational modifications on activation that increase their binding to their cognate receptors. Redox-controlled remodeling of the exofacial domains of alpha(IIb)beta(3) integrin on platelets by exofacial PDI with Ero1alpha to reoxidise the PDI active site, increases receptor activity and fibrinogen binding [77,78]. Other proteins on the cell surface regulated by PDI include ADAM17 and on platelet surface that are redox sensitive include thiol isomerase enzymes e.g. ERp57 which respond to changes in the extracellular redox environment and their impact on platelet activation which along with other family members deserves further study as potential targets against thrombus formation [79-81]. Repair of oxidised thiols maintains signalling through a number of different receptors and although not strictly damaged, the careful control of reduction and oxidation by close association with oxidoreductases prevents irreversible hyperoxidative damage occurring.

Another important antioxidant-like enzyme family with reducing activity is the peroxiredoxin family. Prx6 translocates to the neutrophil surface and is required for respiratory burst activation, however, mutant proteins (C47S) and (S32A) lacking reductase and phospholipase activity remained active for respiratory burst activation and therefore the role of surface Prx6 remains unknown [82].

Conclusion

This review of redox regulation has considered processes that control the extent of damaged proteins in plasma and regulation of enzymes that contribute to the concentrations of reactive species that can cause damage. It has reviewed the manner in which the extracellular redox compartment can regulate intracellular pathways, and conversely, how intracellular oxidative stress may alter the cellular secretome and extracellular protein damage.

However, redox dysregulation and reactive species do not just beget further reactive species but also drive antioxidant protein expression. It is beyond the scope of this review to cover the wealth of literature on redox regulation of antioxidant enzymes regulated by NFkB such as MnSOD or Nrf2 (e.g. GSH peroxidase); the redoxregulated antioxidant response offers the possibility of controlling the extent of reactive species available to damage proteins and to restore the intracellular redox potential. The epigenetic control of adaptive responses promises some interesting opportunities for interventions that might reverse de-/acetylation and de-/methylation and restore redox homeostasis through Nrf2 signalling. The potential for redox signaling through circulating EV suggests an exciting connection to distant sites and potential for modulation by antisense miRNA. The existence of a regulatory antioxidant loop is critical for health and failure to elicit and adaptive response may underlie a protein damage in a number of chronic inflammatory diseases and ageing.

Acknowledgements

HRG acknowledges support from COST CM1001. IHKD acknowledges support from Alzheimer's Research UK. RSW acknowledges support from ERDF.

References

 S.-S. Sivan, et al., Collagen turnover in normal and degenerate human intervertebral discs as determined by the racemization of aspartic acid, Int. J. Biol. Chem. 283 (14) (2008) 8796–8801.

- [2] D.L. Schmucker, Age-related changes in liver structure and function: implications for disease? Exp. Gerontol. 40 (8–9) (2005) 650–659.
- [3] H.R. Griffiths, et al., Biomarkers, Mol. Aspects Med. 23 (1-3) (2002) 101–208.
 [4] T. Shi, et al., IgY14 and SuperMix immunoaffinity separations coupled with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry for human plasma proteomics biomarker discovery, Methods 56 (2) (2012) 246–253.
- [5] R. Ushioda, et al., ERdj5 is required as a disulfide reductase for degradation of misfolded proteins in the ER, Science 321 (5888) (2008) 569–572.
- [6] N.J. Bulleid, L. Ellgaard, Multiple ways to make disulfides, Trends Biochem. Sci 36 (9) (2011) 485–492.
- [7] C. Appenzeller-Herzog, et al., Disulphide production by Ero1α-PDI relay is rapid and effectively regulated, EMBO J. 29 (19) (2010) 3318–3329.
- [8] V.D. Nguyen, et al., Two endoplasmic reticulum PDI peroxidases increase the efficiency of the use of peroxide during disulfide bond formation, J. Mol. Biol. 406 (3) (2011) 503–515.
- [9] C. Appenzeller-Herzog, et al., A novel disulphide switch mechanism in Ero1alpha balances ER oxidation in human cells, EMBO J 27 (22) (2008) 2977–2987.
- [10] C. Appenzeller-Herzog, L. Ellgaard, In vivo reduction-oxidation state of protein disulfide isomerase: the two active sites independently occur in the reduced and oxidized forms, Antioxid Redox Signaling 10 (1) (2008) 55–64.
- [11] T. Kakihana, et al., Dynamic regulation of Ero1alpha and peroxiredoxin 4 localization in the secretory pathway, J. Biol. Chem 288 (41) (2013) 29586–29594.
- [12] C.E. Jessop, N.J. Bulleid, Glutathione directly reduces an oxidoreductase in the endoplasmic reticulum of mammalian cells, Int. J. Biol. Chem. 279 (53) (2004) 55341–55347.
- [13] S. Schulman, et al., Vitamin K epoxide reductase prefers ER membraneanchored thioredoxin-like redox partners, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 107 (34) (2010) 15027–15032.
- [14] H.F. Lodish, N. Kong, The secretory pathway is normal in dithiothreitol-treated cells, but disulfide-bonded proteins are reduced and reversibly retained in the endoplasmic reticulum, J. Biol. Chem 268 (27) (1993) 20598–20605.
- [15] M. Basso, et al., Mutant copper-zinc superoxide dismutase (SOD1) induces protein secretion pathway alterations and exosome release in astrocytes: implications for disease spreading and motor neuron pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, J. Biol. Chem 288 (22) (2013) 15699–15711.
- [16] A. Soderberg, et al., Redox-signaling transmitted in trans to neighboring cells by melanoma-derived TNF-containing exosomes, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 43 (1) (2007) 90–99.
- [17] M. Eldh, et al., Exosomes communicate protective messages during oxidative stress; possible role of exosomal shuttle RNA, PLoS One 5 (12) (2010) e15353.
- [18] M. Janiszewski, et al., Platelet-derived exosomes of septic individuals possess proapoptotic NAD(P)H oxidase activity: a novel vascular redox pathway, Crit. Care Med. 32 (3) (2004) 818–825.
- [19] N. Aoki, et al., Identification and characterization of microvesicles secreted by 3T3-L1 adipocytes: redox- and hormone-dependent induction of milk fat globule-epidermal growth factor 8-associated microvesicles, Endocrinology 148 (8) (2007) 3850–3862.
- [20] C.R. Dunston, K. Choudhury, H.R. Griffiths, Terminal galactose residues on transferrin are increased in midlife adults compared to young adults, Proteomics 12 (21) (2012) 3147–3153.
- [21] H.R. Griffiths, J. Lunec, The effects of oxygen free radicals on the carbohydrate moiety of IgG, FEBS Lett 245 (1-2) (1989) 95–99.
- [22] K.B. Bodman, et al., Lymphocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis produce agalactosylated IgG in vitro, Clin. Exp. Immunol 88 (3) (1992) 420–423.
- [23] V. Vanhooren, et al., Alteration in N-glycomics during mouse aging: a role for FUT8, Aging Cell 10 (6) (2011) 1056–1066.
- [24] Y. Mimura, et al., The influence of glycosylation on the thermal stability and effector function expression of human IgG1-Fc: properties of a series of truncated glycoforms, Mol. Immunol 37 (12-13) (2000) 697–706.
- [25] W. Ansar, et al., Disease-associated glycosylated molecular variants of human C-reactive protein activate complement-mediated hemolysis of erythrocytes in tuberculosis and Indian visceral leishmaniasis, Glycoconj. J 26 (9) (2009) 1151–1169.
- [26] P. Cullen, et al., Downregulation of the selectin ligand-producing fucosyltransferases Fuc-TIV and Fuc-TVII during foam cell formation in monocyte-derived macrophages, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol 17 (8) (1997) 1591–1598.
- [27] T.J.M. Tarr, et al., Cellular crosstalk between TNF-alpha, NADPH oxidase, PKCbeta2, and C2GNT in human leukocytes, Cell Signalling 24 (4) (2012) 873–878.
- [28] B.A. Perkins, et al., Serum levels of advanced glycation endproducts and other markers of protein damage in early diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes, PLoS One 7 (4) (2012) e35655.
- [29] R. Radi, et al., Reaction of xanthine oxidase-derived oxidants with lipid and protein of human plasma, Arch. Biochem. Biophys 286 (1) (1991) 117–125.
- [30] K.R. Atkinson, et al., An altered pattern of circulating apolipoprotein E3 isoforms is implicated in preeclampsia, J. Lipid Res 50 (1) (2009) 71–80.
- [31] J.W. Brock, et al., Increased methionine sulfoxide content of apoA-I in type 1 diabetes, J. Lipid Res 49 (4) (2008) 847–855.
- [32] N. Rabbani, et al., Increased glycation and oxidative damage to apolipoprotein B100 of LDL cholesterol in patients with type 2 diabetes and effect of metformin, Diabetes 59 (4) (2010) 1038–1045.
- [33] B. Shao, S. Pennathur, J.W. Heinecke, Myeloperoxidase targets apolipoprotein A-I, the major high density lipoprotein protein, for site-specific oxidation in human atherosclerotic lesions, J. Biol. Chem 287 (9) (2012) 6375–6386.

- [34] T. Vaisar, et al., HDL in humans with cardiovascular disease exhibits a proteomic signature, Clin. Chim. Acta 411 (13-14) (2010) 972–979.
- [35] D. Weber, et al., Measurement of HNE-protein adducts in human plasma and serum by ELISA—comparison of two primary antibodies, Redox Biol. 1 (1) (2013) 226–233.
- [36] H.R. Griffiths, Antioxidants and protein oxidation, Free Radic Res 33 (Suppl.) (2000) S47–S58.
- [37] D.I. Brown, K.K. Griendling, Nox proteins in signal transduction, Free Radic. Biol. Med 47 (9) (2009) 1239–1253.
- [38] F.R. Laurindo, et al., Novel role of protein disulfide isomerase in the regulation of NADPH oxidase activity: pathophysiological implications in vascular diseases, Antioxid Redox Signalling 10 (6) (2008) 1101–1113.
- [39] C.X. Santos, et al., Protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) associates with NADPH oxidase and is required for phagocytosis of Leishmania chagasi promastigotes by macrophages, J. Leukoc. Biol 86 (4) (2009) 989–998.
- [40] A.P.A.M. de, et al., Protein disulfide isomerase redox-dependent association with p47(phox): evidence for an organizer role in leukocyte NADPH oxidase activation, J. Leukoc. Biol. 90 (4) (2011) 799–810.
- [41] L.A. Pescatore, et al., Protein disulfide isomerase is required for plateletderived growth factor-induced vascular smooth muscle cell migration, Nox1 NADPH oxidase expression, and RhoGTPase activation, J. Biol. Chem 287 (35) (2012) 29290–29300.
- [42] J.M. Li, A.M. Shah, Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol 287 (5) (2004) R1014–R1030.
- [43] L. Mitchell, et al., Redox regulation of Ras and Rho GTPases: mechanism and function, Antioxid Redox Signalling 18 (3) (2013) 250–258.
- [44] S. Jin, et al., Lipid raft redox signaling: molecular mechanisms in health and disease, Antioxid Redox Signalling 15 (4) (2011) 1043–1083.
- [45] I.H. Dias, et al., Sulforaphane restores cellular glutathione levels and reduces chronic periodontitis neutrophil hyperactivity in vitro, PLoS One 8 (6) (2013) e66407.
- [46] E.M. Allen, et al., Oxidative and inflammatory status in Type 2 diabetes patients with periodontitis, J. Clin. Periodontol. 38 (10) (2011) 894–901.
- [47] Y.M. Go, D.P. Jones, Redox compartmentalization in eukaryotic cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1780 (11) (2008) 1273–1290.
- [48] Y.M. Go, et al., A key role for mitochondria in endothelial signaling by plasma cysteine/cystine redox potential, Free Radic. Biol. Med 48 (2) (2010) 275–283.
- [49] H.R. Griffiths, et al., Free radicals and redox signalling in T-cells during chronic inflammation and ageing, Biochem. Soc. Trans 39 (5) (2011) 1273–1278.
- [50] B. Selvakumar, et al., Co-regulation of constitutive nitric oxide synthases and NADPH oxidase by the small GTPase Rac, FEBS Lett 582 (15) (2008) 2195–2202.
- [51] S. Sabuncuoglu, et al., Oxidative protein damage with carbonyl levels and nitrotyrosine expression after chemotherapy in bone marrow transplantation patients, Pharmacology 89 (5-6) (2012) 283–286.
- [52] C. Chen, et al., Resistin decreases expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase through oxidative stress in human coronary artery endothelial cells, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol 299 (1) (2010) H193–H201.
- [53] C.A. Chen, et al., Redox modulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by glutaredoxin-1 through reversible oxidative post-translational modification, Biochemistry 52 (38) (2013) 6712–6723.
- [54] C.A. Chen, et al., Phosphorylation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase regulates superoxide generation from the enzyme, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (40) (2008) 27038–27047.
- [55] R.C. Siow, et al., Cardiovascular targets for estrogens and phytoestrogens: transcriptional regulation of nitric oxide synthase and antioxidant defense genes, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 42 (7) (2007) 909–925.
- [56] A. Recchiuti, C. Serhan, Pro-resolvin lipid mediators (SPMs) and their actions in regulating miRNA in novel resolution circuits in inflammation, Front. Immunol. 3 (2012) 1–23.
- [57] T.J. Barrett, et al., Inactivation of thiol-dependent enzymes by hypothiocyanous acid: role of sulfenyl thiocyanate and sulfenic acid intermediates, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (6) (2012) 1075–1085.

- [58] R.F. Queiroz, et al., Nitroxides attenuate carrageenan-induced inflammation in rat paws by reducing neutrophil infiltration and the resulting myeloperoxidasemediated damage, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 53 (10) (2012) 1942–1953.
- [59] J. Talib, et al., High plasma thiocyanate levels modulate protein damage induced by myeloperoxidase and perturb measurement of 3-chlorotyrosine, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 53 (1) (2012) 20–29.
- [60] H.R. Griffiths, Is the generation of neo-antigenic determinants by free radicals central to the development of autoimmune rheumatoid disease? Autoimmun. Rev. 7 (7) (2008) 544–549.
- [61] M.D. Dodon, G.A. Quash, The antigenicity of asialylated IgG: its relationship to rheumatoid factor, Immunology 42 (3) (1981) 401–408.
- [62] D.L. Clemens, et al., Impairment of the asialoglycoprotein receptor by ethanol oxidation, Biochem. Pharmacol. 52 (10) (1996) 1499–1505.
- [63] G. Indolfi, et al., Autoimmunity and extrahepatic manifestations in treatmentnaive children with chronic hepatitis C virus infection, Clin. Dev. Immunol. 2012 (2012) 785627.
- [64] C. Armengol, et al., Role of scavenger receptors in the pathophysiology of chronic liver diseases, Crit. Rev. Immunol. 33 (1) (2013) 57–96.
- [65] G. Marsche, et al., Class B scavenger receptors CD36 and SR-BI are receptors for hypochlorite-modified low density lipoprotein, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (48) (2003) 47562–47570.
- [66] A. Rubartelli, et al., Secretion of thioredoxin by normal and neoplastic cells through a leaderless secretory pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (34) (1992) 24161–24164.
- [67] R.B. Carilho Torrao, et al., Healthy ageing and depletion of intracellular glutathione influences T cell membrane thioredoxin-1 levels and cytokine secretion, Chem. Cent. J. 7 (1) (2013) 150.
- [68] P. Wang, et al., Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase control tissue factor activity by thiol redox-dependent mechanism, J. Biol. Chem 288 (5) (2013) 3346–3358.
- [69] N.I. Popescu, C. Lupu, F. Lupu, Role of PDI in regulating tissue factor: FVIIa activity, Thromb. Res. 125 (Suppl. 1) (2010) S38–S41.
- [70] V.M. Chen, Tissue factor de-encryption, thrombus formation, and thioldisulfide exchange, Semin. Thromb. Hemost 39 (1) (2013) 40–47.
- [71] B. Giannakopoulos, et al., Factor XI is a substrate for oxidoreductases: enhanced activation of reduced FXI and its role in antiphospholipid syndrome thrombosis, J. Autoimmun 39 (3) (2012) 121–129.
- [72] S. Curbo, et al., Regulation of interleukin-4 signaling by extracellular reduction of intramolecular disulfides, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 390 (4) (2009) 1272–1277.
- [73] B.C. King, et al., Truncated and full-length thioredoxin-1 have opposing activating and inhibitory properties for human complement with relevance to endothelial surfaces, J. Immunol. 188 (8) (2012) 4103–4112.
- [74] C. Metcalfe, P. Cresswell, A.N. Barclay, Interleukin-2 signalling is modulated by a labile disulfide bond in the CD132 chain of its receptor, Open Biol. 2 (1) (2012) 110–136.
- [75] J. Auwerx, et al., Human glutaredoxin-1 catalyzes the reduction of HIV-1 gp120 and CD4 disulfides and its inhibition reduces HIV-1 replication, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41 (6) (2009) 1269–1275.
- [76] F.H. Passam, et al., Redox control of beta2-glycoprotein I-von Willebrand factor interaction by thioredoxin-1, J. Thromb. Haemost. 8 (8) (2010) 1754–1762.
- [77] M. Swiatkowska, et al., Ero1alpha is expressed on blood platelets in association with protein-disulfide isomerase and contributes to redox-controlled remodeling of alphallbbeta3, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (39) (2010) 29874–29883.
- [78] M. Swiatkowska, et al., Interaction and functional association of protein disulfide isomerase with alphaVbeta3 integrin on endothelial cells, FEBS J. 275 (8) (2008) 1813–1823.
- [79] L.M. Holbrook, et al., The platelet-surface thiol isomerase enzyme ERp57 modulates platelet function, J. Thromb. Haemost. 10 (2) (2012) 278–288.
- [80] S.H. Willems, et al., Thiol isomerases negatively regulate the cellular shedding activity of ADAM17, Biochem. J. 428 (3) (2010) 439–450.
- [81] Murphy, D., et al., Regulation of platelet activity in a changing redox environment. Antioxid Redox Signalling, 2013.
- [82] D.R. Ambruso, et al., Peroxiredoxin 6 translocates to the plasma membrane during neutrophil activation and is required for optimal NADPH oxidase activity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1823 (2) (2012) 306–315.